404 NEW YTORE AND ITS INSTITCTIONS.

while the annual deaths of London in 1780 were one in
twenty of the population, in our day they are reduced to one
in forty. The great increase of hospitals, infirmaries, and
dispensaries, during the last quarter ot a century, has evinced
decided progress in the right direction, exhibiting on the one
hand a thoughtful generosity among the wealthy, and timely
relief from the woes that afflict the indigent on the other.
But while much was accomplished for the blind, the deaf-
mute, for eye and ear patients, there still existed a very
numerous class of ruptured and crippled for whose relief no
institution had been founded. In 1804 a society was formed
‘1 London for the relief of the ruptured, which gave advice
and trusses to poor persons properly recommended. Several
others have since sprung up from this example, but it is
believed that the citizens of New York have the honor of
founding the first institation for the gratuitons and thorough
treatment of hernia and all classes of orthopedic surgery.
The prime mover in this laudable énterprise was Dr. James
Knight. In 1842, when public clinics were first introduced
in our medical colleges, Dr. Valentine Mott, Professor of
Surgery in the University Medical College of New York, ap-
pointed Dr. Knight, who had devoted much attention to the
construction of surgical apparatus and the treatment of
deformity, to take charge of the orthopedic branch of the
Tnstitution. Vast numbers of poor cripples and ruptured
persons applied for treatment, and Dr. Knight supplied
not a few of them with surgical apparatus at his own expense,
which drew heavily on his slender means, but which never-
. theless greatly enlarged his practice, and became in the end
q source of wealth. At a later period Dr. Knight became
one of the visitors of the New York Association for Improv-
ing the Condition of the Poor, and on these visits he often
found helpless cripples whom he believed might have been
made useful and self-supporting if they had received proper
treatment in early years. Dr. Knight had long felt the
necessity of a society to undertake the improvement of this
class of sufferers. Ile at different times issued circulars to
the benevolentof the city, setting forth the subject, urging the
importance of an organization, but received no response.« He
next prepared a paper which he presented-to the principal sur-
geons, the mayor, and to several other distinguished gentle-
men, who gave it their signatures. With this encouragement
Le next sought the co-operation of Mr. R. M. Hartley, the cor-
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responding secretary of the Association for Improving the Con-
dition of the Poor. This thoughtful philanthropist had lon
felt the necessity of such an institution, but had been detutzr:{'e{ay
from any movement in that direction from want of profes-
sional aid. IHe instantly recognized in Dr. Knight the aid
he had so long needed, and on the 10th of April, 1862, he
brought the subject before the managers of the Association
for the Improvement of the Condition of the Poor, and intro-
duced the Doctor to that body. After due consideration, the
Society was, on the 27th of March, 1863, incorporated under
the act of 1848. The private residence of Dr. Knight,
No. 97 Second avenue, was rented at a moderate price,
the managers pledged to defray the expenses of the enter-
rise for three years, and on the first day of May the
nstitution was oll)Jened with Dr. Knight as resident physician
and surgeon. During the first month 66 patients were
treated, 10 of whom' were taken into the Imstitution, and at
the close of the year the number amounted to 828. With
each succeeding year the number has increased, amounting in
the year just closed to 2,507, or 11,764 during the first seven
years; and even this number would have been quadrupled but
for the lack of accommodations. It has been ascertained that
at least one in fifteen of the population is ruptured ; persons of
all ages, from the youngest infant to the octogenarian, being
thus afflicted.- These cases are largely among the poor and
laboring classes, unable to purchase trusses and other surgical
appliances. The children in the Institution present many sad
examples of deformity. There are cases under treatment for
lateral curvatwres, spinal and kip diseases, deformed limbs,
paralytic affections, club-feet, weak ankles, weak knees, bow
legs, and white swelling. Scores of astonishing recoveries
occur annually of those who a few years since would have
been pronounced incurable, and left to limp or crawl to an
early grave. Another class of patients are those suffering
from varicose veins, which are relieved by the laced stocking,
which, like suitable trusses, spring supporters for hip diseases,
and utero-abdominal supporters, have always heretofore been
far beyond the reach of the poor on account of their costli-
ness. The society manufactures its own instruments at less
than one-fourth the price hitherto paid ~ All indigent persons
applying receive counsel, and any of these instruments needed,
gratuitously. The building in gecond avenue was purchased
in 1866, but was never able to accommodate over thirty, and
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as most of those admitted are compelled to remain from six
to eighteen months, and a few even longer, hundreds were
annually furned away, who, with careful in-door treatment,
could have been saved from alife of-deformity and suffering.
The manifest necessity for the movement, and its auspicious
beginnings, led the managers to appeal to the public for the
means to found, on a firm basis, a suitable institution. This
has been responded to by a number of benevolent gentlemen,
among whom may be mentioned Channcey Rose, Esq., who has
contributed the handsome sum of ninety thousand dollars.
The Legislature, in 1867, enlarged their charter, granting
ower to hold real estate to the amount of two hundred and
ty thousand dollars, and personal to the amount of one hun-
dred and fifty thousand dollars. It also granted, through the
Supervisors of New York county, twenty-five thousand dollars
toward building. The new edifice was entered by the sur-
geon and patients in the spring of 1870, and formally opened
with appropriate exercises on the eleventh of the following
November. A

‘When the edifice was finished, an indebtedness of $50,000
remained on the property. John C. Green, Esq., the president
of the society, nobly proposed to donate the sum of $50,000,
if the board of managers would within thirty days collect a
similar sum, which was soon accomplished, sweeping away
all encumbrances with a stroke, and leaving $50,000 as the
foundation of a permanent endowment fund.

The building occupies five lots of ground on the north-west
corner of Lexington avenue and Forty-second street. The
ground plan consists of a central portion one hundred and
fifteen by forty-five feet, to which are attached semi-circular
wings of twenty-two feet radius at three angles, two facing
the south on'Foﬁ.y-second street, and one at the north-east
angle on Lexington avenue. A wing, rectangular in form,
thirty-two by twenty-two feet, is also attached to the north-
west angle. The heavy walls, which are seventy-nine feet
high, are of brick, trimmed with Ohio free and Connecticut
brown stone, their blended colors forming a grateful relief to
the eye. The basement, which is ten feet 1igh, contains a
reception hall, with seats for one hundred out-patients, consulta-
tion-rooms, lfltChen, dining-room, store-rooms, laundry, and the
manufacturing department for the construction and repairs
of surgico-mechanical appliances. The first floor, reached
by a broad flight of steps, is bisected by a spacious hallway,
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while a narrower one, running at right angle with this, divides
it into equal parallelograms. This floor contains a reception-
room, a spacious hall for the meetings of the managers, ap-
propriate rooms for the family, and several apartments for
patients. The second and third floors, which have walls
eichteen feet high, are each divided into three longitudinal
divisions, to be occupied by the children; the central one on
each floor is a clear space where they receive their food and
instruction ; the others contain their beds, clothing, etc. The
fourth floor is an open expanse for convalescent patients to
enjoy the sunlight, free air, and amuse themselves with suit-
ably limited calisthenics. This story is eighteen feet high,
covered with a large central and several smaller domes,
through which the invigorating sunlight. pours its mellow
rays upon the pale but hopeful patients. The building con-
tains an admirable system of ventilation, is heated throughout
with steam, and well supplied with bath-rooms, hot and cold
water. The spacious stairway is fire-proof, and the building
is furnished with a fire-proof elevator, worked with steam,
which carries patients’ food and all other appliances from the
basement to the fourth floor. The edifice has been completed
at an expense of $250,000, including the site, and has ample
accommodations for two hundred patients. The Institution is
now prepared to receive pay patients, both children and adults,
and the society has entered, we trust, upon a new era in its
useful career. Its labors in the past, aside from all human
and moral considerations, have been abundantly successful,
relieving the city of hundreds who must have been beggars
and paupers, and supplying the means of comfort and inde-
pendence to many worthy families. The children are in-
structed in English and German, and many who never saw a
book at home make surprising progress. The Institution in
its management is Protestant, though not denominational, and
sound Christian morals are inculcated in the minds of its in-
mates, who represent all creeds and nationalities. Without
disparagement to any, we can but regard this as among the
very first institutions of this great metropolis.




THE HOUSE OF REST FOR CONSUMPTIVES.

(Tremont, N. XY.)

il

f‘E idea of founding an institution for the better

$ Wiy treatment of consumptives, we are told, originated in
v} the mind of Miss E. A. Bogle, of White Plains. Her
" © mother having died with consumption, she was led to
reflect much upon the nature of the disease, and having spent
fifteen months in a camp hospital at David’s Island during
the war, and taken charge of the Home for Incurables at West
Farms after her return, she conceived the idea of establishing
an institution where pulmonary complaints should be made a
subject of special study and treatment. She communicated
the idea to the Rev.T. 8. Rumney, D.D., of White Plains,
who entered with spirit into the movement and became the
founder of the Institution. The society was organized in
September, 1869, and on December 1st a House of Rest for
Consumptives was opened at Tremont, with one female
patient. The author visited the Institution on the last day of
January, 1870, and found five patients, three male and two
female. The building leased at Tremont is a very eligible
one, with fine surroundings, on the line of the Harlem Rail-
road, though it is the purpose of the trustees fo purchase land
and erect suitable buildings at White Plains at no distant
day. Itis designed to be a charitable institution, receiving
patients afflicted with pulmonary complaints from any and
every denomination, supplying all with medical treatment and
nursing ; also “ with the ministrations of the Gospel accordin
to the forms and doctrines of the Protestant Episcopa%

Church.” Any person or society may establish a free bed, to -

be constantly oceupied by any invalid he shall designate, on
the annual payment of three hundred dollars.

It is the desire of the managers to have as many of the
beds free as possible. Persons become members of the
society on the annual payment of ten dollars, or a life mem-
ber on the payment of one hundred at one time.

It may be doubted whether the best location has heen
selected, a dry atmosphere being thus far considered the most
important desideratum for consumptives.

‘While it is too early in the history of the Institution to
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make any safe prediction concerning it, may we not, how-
ever, rejoice in the undertaking, and hope that new light
may be shed on this hitherto dark subject, and that thou-
sands who would otherwise sink pale and lifeless into prema-
ture graves may be spared for years of toil and usefulness.

Other diseases that successfully baffled the skill of the
medical fraternity for ages have been conquered by the in-
vestigations of modern times. The small-pox was the ragin§
scourge of the world until Dr. Jenner, by long study an
careful experiments, disrobed it of its power. E}ertainly, in
a climate like ours, where three-fourths of the people are
afflicted with pulmonary diseases in some of their forms, and
all are liable to be, no more important subject can challenge
the researches of the physician, or the charities of the benevo-
lent.




NEW YORK INFIRMARY FOR WOMEN AND CHILDREN,

(No. 128 Second avenue.)

Until very recently it has been difficult, if not quite im-
possible, for a woman to obtain a complete medical and sur-

ical education, either in this or in any other country.

hat she possesses the talent, and should by instruction
secure the fitness to successfully treat the delicate cases of
her own sex, is to us a matter of plainest common sense; yet
such has been the prejudice of the medical fraternity and of
the world at large, that for ages she has been debarred from
the halls of the medical college, and from the operating
theater at the hospital. A growing desire to enter this wide
field of usefulness has been evinced by the female sex for
the last fifty years, and is becoming more and more conta-
gious as opportunities in this direction are afforded. Some-
thing more than twenty years ago, Misses Elizabeth and
Emily Blackwell managed to press their way through a
medical course, and graduated at a medical college in Cleve-
land. Several years were subsequently spent in the prosecu-
tion of these studies in Europe, after which they returned,
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and with the aid of a few friends founded the first medical
charity conducted by female physicians, and the first hospital
in the world for the instruction of women in medicine and
surgery. The Institution was incorporated in December,
1853, under the general act of 1848, with a board of eigh-
teen trustees, among whom stand the names of H. Greeley,
H. J. Raymond, Charles A. Dana, Elizabeth Blackwell, ete.
Their first movement was to open an infirmary or dispensary in
a single room near Tompkins square, with a capital of fifty
dollars, to be attended three times a week by Doctor Eliza-
beth Blackwell. Three years later, reinforced by the return
of Doctor Emily Blackwell from Europe, and by Marie K.
La Krzewska, a lady of medical attainments; a hospital de-
partment was added. This last step was taken amid many
fears and doubts on the part of sundry trustees and friends
of the cause, lest, through the prejudice of the public, the
death certificates signed by a woman should not be recog-
nized by the authorities, and the means necessary to defray
the expenses of the enterprise should fail. But the faith of
woman discovered light ahead and pressed on. The names
of several distinguished practitioners were secured as a con-
sulting board, and in the fourth year the infirmary was by
the State and city placed on the list receiving governmental
assistance, which official recognition was considered more
valuable than the financial aid secured. In 1862 a subserip-
tion was started, which resulted in the purchase of the four-
story brick building, twenty-six by seventy feet, situated at
No. 128 Second avenue. The building cost $17,000, but the
improvements and other changes have since doubled its mar-
ket value The society in addition to about $1,000 annually
received from the State, has recently received $10,000 from
the city, which has enabled it to remove the mortgage on its
property and to lease for a term of years the adjoining build-
ing, thus greatly enlarging its accommodations. During the
first five years that the infirmary was located on Second
avenue, 31,657 sick persons were treated, the greater portion
being out-door patients. On account of their limited accom-
modations, but 640 were received into the house, 353 for the
practice of midwifery, only five of whom died, an average of
one per year. The small percentage of deaths establishes
the capacity of woman to successfully conduct a hospital.
Their business is rapidly increasing, as no less than 6,413
were treated or supplied with medicine during 1869. More




412 NEW YORE AND ITS INSTITUTIONS,

than one hundred have been received into the house annually
for several years past, the majority being ob_stetrlcal cases,
though all other patients in the general practice are treated.
The poor are furnished gratuitously with medicines, and vis-
ited at their homes by the physicians.
The instruction of young women for nurses, and for the
ractice of medicine, had been from the first a leading
]f)eature in the Institution, yet the managers desired to make
satisfactory arrangement with some medical school for the
graduation of their students, and thus avoid the necessity of
cstablishing a separate college. Failing to complete such
arrangements, an application to the Legislature for a co]lege
charter was made in 1865, and in due time granted. The
course of study is rigid, lasting three years, and requiring
the students to be present in the Institution at least eighteen
months during that time. The faculty of professors and
lecturers, like the board of trustees, is composed of males
and fomales, Fifteen or twenty students taking the regular
course have been in attendance since the organization of the
college, besides other ladies who have simply attended lec-
tures. An educational fund amounting to $100,000 has been
called for, to which appeal the late Chauncey W. Rose,
whose name is connected with so many benevolent undertak-
ings, responded with a donation of $5,000. The fund at this
time amounts to above $30,000. The annual expense of the
Tnstitution had not exceeded $7,000 up to the period of open-
ing the second building, and five hundred dollars have never
been received in any year from pay patients. The society
performs a work of great charity among the poor, adminis-
tering in times of greatest need to hundreds of widows, and
to others who by desertion or deception are rendered equally
forlorn, and richly deserves the unstinted support o the
benevolent. All honor to this pioneer college of female
physicians.

NEW YORX MEDICAL COLLEGE AND HOSPITAL FOR WOMEN.

(Corner of Twelfth streel and Second avenue.)

The great and multiplied difficulties which every lady has
been compelled to encounter in the study of medicine and
surgery has by no means dampened the ardor of the sex for
such an undertaking. In all parts of Europe, as well as in
America, women are loudly knocking at the door of the
college and the hospital. The University of Zurich, in
Switzerland, conferred the degree on its first female medical
student in 1867, and the number of Russian women applying
for admission into the college of medicine at St. Petersburgh
has been so numerous, that the subject was several years
since brought up for discussion in the ITmperial Council of
Education. These applications have been numerous in
England, and in some recent instances, in France, ladies have
received opportunities in hospitals and colleges not hitherto
granted. Ten native female physicians have recently gradu-
ated in India. But no country affords such opportunities to
women as America, and no city to female medical students
as New York. The prevalence of liberal sentiments has of

late thrown open to them the great city hospitals and dispen-
23
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garies, with their admirable clinics; and colleges, encouraged
by the first medical talent of the age, have been erected with
every appliance for their especiai culture. The infirmary
established by the Blackwell sisters, and so successfully con-
ducted, proved the practical capacity of woman as a medical
adviser, and was an indispensable prerequisite to a successful
appeal to the public for means to establish an institution for
such education. This having been clearly demonstrated at
that infirmary, the projectors of this Institution established
first the college, leaving the practical maiters of hospital and
dispensary to be added at a later period. The origin of this
Institution should perhaps date from April, 1863, when a
serios of lectures were delivered to a class of females by Mas.
Losier of this city, in her own private parlor. This lady had
graduated some sixteen years previously at a well-known
medical college, and in these lectures was assisted by Doctor
T. M. Ward. In the antumn of the same year, rooms were
rented at No. 724 Broadway. Two or three years were
subsequently spent at No. 74 East Twelith street, and in
June, 1868, the present eligible building, corner of Twelfth
street and Second avenue, was purchased. The society was
incorporated as a medical college in 1868, and the following
year the act was amended adding the term Hospital.” The
trustees are all females. The main building is a fine four-
story brown stone, twenty-six by eighty-one feet, and cost
$43,000. A rear addition, fronting on Twelfth street, twenty-
four by fifty-five feet and three stories high, has been added,
containing dispensary, anatomical, lecture, and dissecting
rooms. The hospital department was mnot opened until
September, 1869, since which about four hundred female and
children patients have been received. The dispensary has
also treated several thousand indigent applicants. The
Homeopathic system is principally taught, with a liberal
leaning to all other good practice. The course of study lasts
three years, and aims at great thoroughness, the students
being required to practise in the dispensary and diagnose in
the ITospital. Great pains are taken to perfect their attain-
ments in obstetrics, a field in which they are expected to find
their largest practice. In order to matriculation, the appli-
cant must present an approved certificate of good moral
character, ‘_be eiéhteen years of age, have a good English
education, including elementary botany and chemistry, and
be under the instruction of a respectable medical practitioner.

HAHNEMANN HOSPITAL. 415

A free scholarship is offered to one graduate from each
chartered female college in this State. The expense of
tuition does not exceed $180. Students are not boarded
in the Institution. About thirty students are now in attend-
ance, and nearly sixty have been oraduated. After gradua-
tion, one or two years are usually given to the further 'Fursuit
of their studies, before they really begin practice. L1wo of
the graduates of this Institution are now conducting a lucra- -
tive practice in this city, and may be seen daily riding in
their carriages to the dwellings of their patients. Others
are practising in other places, and proving that the practice
of medicine is at present the most remunerative calling open
to a woman, The Institution received $10,000 from the
State in 1869, about $7,000 having been previously received
from the city. It has also received many private donations,
amon% which we may mention one from Mis. Losier, MD.,
one of its founders, of $10,000.

HAENEMANN HOSPITAL OF THE CITY AND STATE OF
NEW YORK.

(Fourth avenue and Sixty-seventh sireel.)

—r,

; hﬁ[‘{ HIS js the only homeopathic hospital in the city and

U State of New York, and the first in its inception in the
United States. It was founded by and through the in-
flnence of its medical director, Dr. F. Seeger, who ad-
vanced from his own funds the first thousand dollars toward
launching the enterprise. Its organization and incorporation
took place early in the fall of 1869. The inaugural exercises
were held in the rooms of the Union Leagne Club, on the
15th of December, 1869, and Dr. John F. Gray resided.
‘Addresses were made by William Cullen Bryant ang George
C. Barrett, the latter at that time president of the Hospital.
Some choice pieces of music were sung by Miss Clara Louise
Kellogg. A temporary hospital was opened in a hired build-
ing, No. 307 East Fifty-fifth street, where it still continues.
During 1870 forty patients, all but one charity cases, were
treated. There are now many more applicants than can be
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